

Fabrication of cracking-free CeO2 thin film using UV/O3 and plasma treatment and their applications in wearable devices

**Author:** Qin, Yiting

**Publication Date:** 2019

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/3798

# License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/63383 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-04-26

# Fabrication of Cracking-free CeO<sub>2</sub> Thin Film Using UV/O<sub>3</sub> and Plasma Treatment and their Applications in Wearable Devices

# **Yiting Qin**

A thesis in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

**Master of Engineering** 



Supervisor: Dr. Dewei Chu

School of Materials Science & Engineering Faculty of Science

March 2019

# **ORIGINALITY STATEMENT**

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, nor material which to a substantial extent has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis.

I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.

Signed

Date .

# **COPYRIGHT STATEMENT**

I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all proprietary rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350 word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstract International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only). I have either used no substantial portions of copyright material in my thesis or I have obtained permission to use copyright material; where permission has not been granted I have applied/will apply for a partial restriction of the digital copy of my thesis or dissertation.

Signed

Date .

# **AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT**

I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis. No emendation of content has occurred and if there are any minor variations in formatting, they are the result of the conversion to digital format.

Signed

Date\_\_\_\_\_

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Completion of this thesis has been a journey filled with roadblocks and detour. The unforgettable moments of stress and anxiety has molded into sense of success and achievement. I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge and express my gratitude towards many individuals:

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Dewei Chu for all his insightful guidance and generous support. Dr. Chu provided the opportunity to start my research and leaded me into a brand-new scientific field. His enthusiasm as well as the depth and breadth of his knowledge have been a positive inspiration.

I would like to deeply thank Bo Qu and Yifeng Jiang. They have been an incredible mentor for the past two year. Without their invaluable support, this dissertation simply was not possible. They have always been an admirable model to me. The deeply grateful also goes to Sean Lim, Anthony Zhang, Qianru Lin, Nan Chen and Tao Wan with their help in laboratory training and work.

Finally, I thank my parents Minxin Cai and Shoutang Qin for their endless love and encouragement when I was facing obstacles.

Ш

#### ABSTRACT

Recent development of wearable devices in healthcare, wearable and soft robotics has generated increasing demand for memory devices which are more compact with higher data storage capacity and mechanical flexibility, as well as lower fabrication costs. Resistive random access memory (RRAM), which is an emerging technology, has unique advantage of high response speed, low power consumption, and 3D stack architecture.

In this research, a sandwich structure (Au/CeO<sub>2</sub>/Au/Si) based RRAM device has been developed. Scanning electron microscope (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM) were applied to analyze the phase and microstructure for both inks and the thin films. The electrical properties including current-voltage (I-V) response were systematically tested by auto-lab and source meter. A stretching test also was done with a thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) based device.

A suspension ink with controlled shape of  $CeO_2$  nanocrystals was prepared. A series of samples have been prepared with solvent, toluene or hexane, by using  $CeO_2$  as core material for the ink. The thin film was deposited by spin coating or drop-coating following with plasma treatment. Both silicon and TPU based device have been used as substrates for comparison.

Shape controlled CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals and printable inks have been successfully fabricated. Different solvent was used to vary the properties of the ink and improve the cracking-free films. A large area cracking-free CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film was

obtained by plasma processing. Ink jet printing method was also involved as one method of film fabrication. The memory behaviour could be more clearly demonstrated with obvious characteristic from the I-V curve both at silicon and TPU elastic substrates. Thus, the plasma treatment with different treatment time and power could help improve the thin film performance. A simple flexible device had been manufactured with a basic memory behaviour.

In summary, the project provided a systematic study on developing metal oxide based nanocrystals towards crack-free thin film and memory devices applications, which may have potential applications in future printed, flexible data storage devices.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ORIGINALITY STATEMENT	1
COPYRIGHT STATEMENT	
AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
ABSTRACT	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
LIST OF TABLES	IX
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Background	3
2.1.1 Wearable Devices	
2.1.2 Transparent Flexible Ele	ectronics4
2.2 Memristor in Wearable Devi	ces6
2.2.1 Introduction of Memristo	or6
2.2.2 Resistive Switching Beh	naviour9
2.3 Mechanisms of Memristor	
2.3.1 Schottky Barrier Model	
2.3.2 Conducting Filament Mo	odel
2.3.3 Oxygen Vacancy Model	15
2.4 CeO <sub>2</sub> Based Thin Film	
2.4.1 Properties of Cerium (IV	/) Oxide17
2.4.2 Self-assembly of CeO <sub>2</sub> .	
2.4.3 Synthesis Methods of C	eO <sub>2</sub> Nanocrystals20
2.4.4 Cracking-free Thin Film	
2.5 UV Treatment	
2.6 Plasma Treatment	
3. CERIUM OXIDE SUSPENSION	INK
3.1 In-doped CeO <sub>2</sub> Ink	
3.2 CeO <sub>2</sub> Ink Perfection	
4. CERIUM OXIDE THIN FILM DEV	/ICE42
4.1 Cracking free CeO <sub>2</sub> Thin Filr	n44
4.1.1 Effect of Solvent	
4.1.2 Effect of Plasma Treatm	ent Time49

4.2	Electrical Properties of Thin Film Device	51
4.2	2.1 Improve by Adding Organic Ligands	54
4.2	2.2 Inkjet Printing of Top electrode deposition	58
5. TF	PU BASED CERIUM OXIDE THIN FILM DEVICE	61
5.1	Surface Morphology	62
5.2	Stretching Test with On/off Ratio	65
5.3	Electrical Properties of Devices	67
6. SI	UMMARY AND CONCLUTION	75
7. RI	EFERENCE	78

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1. Basic Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor[44]6 Figure 2. (a) Four fundamental circuit elements (b) Pinched-Hysteresis Loop [46,50]
Figure 3. Schematic for basic resistive switching operation (a) Unipolar switching. (b) Bipolar switching [62]
Figure 5. I-V characteristics of a typical RRAM structure device [61]
Figure 8. A schematic diagram for mechanism of resistive switching effects in electrochemical metallization cell: (a) metal atoms oxidized at the anode and migrated to the cathode and deoxidize therein; (b) form conductive filament in the cell (c) when voltage is reversed, the breakdown of the filament takes place, HRS occurs. [71]
Figure 9. Schematic of $CeO_2$ unit cell [77]
Figure 11. The SEM images of pentacene film deposited on (a) as-prepared, (b) oxygen plasma treated
Figure 12. TEM image of In-CeO <sub>2</sub> 200°C
Figure 16. On/off ratio of (1) 5% In-doped $CeO_2$ (2) 15% In-doped $CeO_2$ thin film
Figure 17. I-V curves of (1) 5% In-doped CeO <sub>2</sub> (2) 15% In-doped CeO <sub>2</sub> thin film
Figure 18. (1) In-CeO <sub>2</sub> without OLA (2) In-CeO <sub>2</sub> with 2% OLA
Figure 20. The CeO2 nanocubes were dissolved in (1) 1.5 ml toluene with 2%OLA (2) 1.5 ml toluene with 1% OLAFigure 21. Line scan of thin film44Figure 22. Sample 1: Hexane (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h (O2) thin film45Figure 23. Morphology of Hexane (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h (O2) thin film46Figure 24. Morphology of Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h (O2) thin film

Figure 25. Resistance switching of (1) Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $(2)$ blavene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $(2)$ )	(O <sub>2</sub> )
(2) Hexane (0.5% oleic acid), plasma in $(O_2)$	48
Figure 26. Morphology of Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 4h (O <sub>2</sub> ) thin film .	50
Figure 27. Best I-V curve for Sample 1, Sample 2, Sample 3 (top to bottom)	53
Figure 28. (1) Toluene with TOPO (2) Hexane with TOPO on Au coated Si	
substrate	55
Figure 29. SEM images of spin coated (1) Toluene with TOPO (2) Hexane with	th
TOPO on Au coated Si substrate after 5 hour O <sub>2</sub> plasma	57
Figure 30. Sample 1: Inkjet printed for 2 repeated cycles (left)	58
Figure 31. I-V curve for (1) 2 repeated cycles of top electrode	59
Figure 32. Illustration of the TPU based device	61
Figure 33. Morphology of TPU substrate	62
Figure 34. Morphology of CeO <sub>2</sub> /In-doped CeO <sub>2</sub> thin film	63
Figure 35. FIB of CeO <sub>2</sub> /In-doped CeO <sub>2</sub> Device	63
Figure 36. Thickness and morphology of CeO <sub>2</sub> /In-doped CeO <sub>2</sub> thin film	64
Figure 37. On/off ratio for each state (original state - O, stretch state - S, and	
relax state - R) in 'stretch-relax' cycles: Sample A-C	66
Figure 38. Original State: (a) I-V curves (b) Pulse change	68
Figure 39. Stretching State: (a) I-V curves (b) Pulse change	69
Figure 40. Relaxing State: (a) I-V curves (b) Pulse change	70
Figure 41. Typical I-V curve for failure within first 3 times I-V sweeps	71
Figure 42. Typical (a) I-V curve and (b) endurance change for successful	
resistance change but failed during the 1000 times endurance test	72
Figure 43. Typical (a) I-V curve and (b) endurance change for successful	
resistance change and 1000 times endurance test	73

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Field effect mobility (µFE) of channel materials [39]	5
Table 2. Effect of high boiling point solvent on particle size of CeO2	<u>2</u> 21
Table 3. Size of CeO <sub>2</sub> nanocubes based on different ratio of OA/(C	e(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> 22
Table 4. Layout and alternative materials for the MOM structured n	nemristor [99]
·	24
Table 5. Determinant factors for sample 1-3	51
Table 6. Device performance matrix at pristine state	73
Table 7.Device performance matrix after 100 cycles of stretching	74

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Information technology has been developed in an incredible high speed during the last decade. 'Evolution' of computing devices aims to achieve more accuracy with higher speed and smaller volume. Moore's diagram [1], cost versus integration density, introduce a rule that the more transistors integrated. the lower cost for each transistor. This can be only down to a certain minimum, after that, the cost climbed steeply. Currently, the silicon-based semiconductor has been taking great strides along this diagram which remains to improve the speed, cost and size for manufacturing. The conventional memory devices based on transistor are predicted to approach the scaling limit in 2018 [1]. More wearable applications [2] are developed to support and create an integral part of people's normal life and users who wear it can always access them no matter what place or time. Hence, one of the most prominent challenges today is to make a combined device with both small size and large capacity in memory technology. The wearable properties can be implemented in resistive switching devices [3]. The experiment in this thesis was focused on the research of achieving the wearable function by using the self-assembled [4] ink to fabricate the transition-metal-oxide-based [5] device with its electrical properties.

A simple model device has the structure of metal oxide thin film in between of top and bottom electrode. Cerium(IV) oxides, CeO<sub>2</sub> or ceria [6], were used as resistive switching materials. The gold (Au) coating monocrystalline silicon chip and pure gold [7,8] were used as bottom and top electrode, respectively. A hydrothermal process [9-11] was used to produce inks, which is shape-controlled in the autoclave by enginnering the liquid–liquid Interface [9]. A

simple drop-coating method was introduced following by plasma or UV treatments to fabricate the CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film. This method with cost effectively and rapid production was an effective way that can be taken under mild temperatures. Several controlling parameters for this method, such as shape of the precursor, solvents of the ink, treatment time and etc. have been tested. Unique properties of the ink would be produced under different conditions. As a result, the different microstructure of the thin films and distinct influence for properties of the memory application were shown by the current-voltage (I-V) curve. SEM and TEM microscope were used as reference in studying the microstructure and composition.

Cubic shaped nanocrystals of CeO<sub>2</sub> were obtained by adding oleic acid [12] during the hydrothermal process. Different self-assembly percentage of the ink has been achieved. Interesting resistive switching [3] phenomenon was observed in the device. The device with high-resistance state was be switched into a low-resistance state after applying an external electrical field. This phenomenon was reversible by subjecting to an opposite voltage. Thus, the device could remember the last resistance it has during this process. A 'pinched-hysteresis loop' [13] showed on a resistance graph could demonstrate this property. Therefore, it could be seen as a footprint of memristive devices.

The aim of this thesis is to (1) seek for methods of synthetic process of selfassembled  $CeO_2$  printable ink; (2) analyze the data obtained and find out the suitable conditions for fabricating the  $CeO_2$  thin film and (3) to determine the properties of the thin film especially with the desired electrical properties to realize the memristive function.

# 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

## 2.1 Background

#### 2.1.1 Wearable Devices

The 21st century, also called Information Age [14], has many upsides. People rely on the new technologies due to the rapid innovation of robots, electronic circuits, sensors, artificial synapses and etc. [15]. Meanwhile one of the major downsides caused by this high speed evolution is that information overladed[2]. The huge amount of information will easily push the limitation of the storage as people can imaging. Three Mile Island Accident [16], Chernobyl Disaster [17], and more closely Fukushima Nuclear Power Plant Disaster [18] are three results caused by overladed of the information. Similarly, this pressure has applied to human's normal life. Computers has successfully shrunk from room size (Atanasoff–Berry Computer [19], contained 280 dual-triode vacuum tubes , 31 thyratrons, a wire of approximately 1.6 km in length, and was about a size of a desk, weighed more than 320 kg [20]) to palm size (cell phone, iPad, laptops) enable the practical requirement for user's lifestyle.

A simple structure of a wearable device contains a backpack PC, a headmounted display, input devices and a wireless communication hardware. To define a device as a wearable device, it should meet three goals: mobility, augment reality and context sensitivity. The wearable device can go with the wearer and be aware of the user's surroundings. The wearable devices with operational and interactional constancy can be distinguished from other traditional forms of large size portable computers.

#### 2.1.2 Transparent Flexible Electronics

Two important characteristics for developing the next-generation wearable device are transparency and flexibility for the electronic circuitry. Moore's Law has led the manufacturing of silicon-based semiconductor nearly 50 years, which predicted an accurate capacity of transistor with lowest cost. This rule is estimated to reach its end of scaling, a linewidth of 12nm, in 2018 owing to the heat produced during operation and tunnel effect when large scale integrated circuit is needed [21]. Furthermore, the silicon-based devices are with less transparency due to the narrow bandgap [22], which is not suitable for the circuit. The development of high performance electronic devices is required because of considering the inherent limitations [23]. Flexible electronic devices with a reasonable transparency are expected to meet demands of memory technological in communication, portable display, identification products and computational, where silicon-based electronics cannot provide a solution [24].

The high-performance device is employed for the sufficient use as a transistor in solar cells [25], current-driven electronic circuits [26-28], sensors [29-31], displays [32,33], bioelectronic devices [34] and memory devices [28,29]. At this stage, two main form of the transparent electronic devices, organic semiconductors [35-37] and hydrogenated amorphous silicon [35,36,38] have been widely studied. Researchers have fabricated thin-film transistors (TFTs) and flexible solar cells[23,24,35-38] based on these two formats. Table 1 below lists the field effect mobility ( $\mu_{FE}$ ) of some typical channel materials. [24,39]

Channel Materials	μ <sub>FE</sub> (cm <sup>2</sup> V <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )
Hydrogenated amorphous silicon	~1
Pentacene thin film	1.5
Pentacene single crystal	~2.7
Polycrystalline silicon	~100
Single crystalline silicon	~200

Table 1. Field effect mobility (µFE) of channel materials [39]

It can be seen that carrier mobility of single crystalline silicon is larger than the hydrogenated amorphous silicon. And the difference between this two is nearly 2 or 3 orders of magnitude. The band conduction and jumping in between the localized band tail state result in the carrier transportation in hydrogenated amorphous silicon, thus lead to the large difference. A strongly directive sp<sup>3</sup> orbitals in the covalent semiconductors cause a structural randomness. The bond overlap degrades rapidly with a bond angle fluctuation, thus the carrier transports in a strict direction. High density tail-states can be reached by altering the electronic levels along with bond angle fluctuation. Moreover, a high mobility, define as  $\mu_{FE} > 10 \text{ cm}^2\text{V}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ , can be reached in typical amorphous oxide semiconductors that contains post transition metal cations, with an influence of retrogress of band conduction. [40]

# 2.2 Memristor in Wearable Devices

# 2.2.1 Introduction of Memristor

An efficient method in terms of speed and volume of computation is to build the network on purpose-built complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) integrated circuits [41,42]. A field effect transistor (FET) is involved in the circuit. It uses a gate, the input terminal where voltage is applied, to control the current flowing through it. The operation relies on the electric field which is generated by voltage of the gate [43]. When gate input is electrically insulated from the main current carrying channel, the transistor becomes an insulated gate field transistor (IGFET). The most common type of IGFET is the metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistor (MOSFET) [44]. (Figure 1)



Figure 1. Basic Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor[44]

It is a combination of two types of metal oxide semiconductor (MOS): n-channel MOS (NMOS) and p-channel MOS (PMOS) [45]. This leads to CMOS only draw negligible leakage currents in standby operation.

To improve the performance of CMOS circuits, a memristor, work as a twoterminal electrical component keeping the correlation between the magnetic flux and electric charge, has been found [46]. This concept was first come up with Leon Chua in 1971 [47]. The idea was that the memristor is worked as the fourth fundamental electrical circuit elements, in addition to resistors, capacitors, and inductors [47]. The I-V graph (Figure 2(b)) called a 'pinched-hysteresis loop' is the footprint of a memristor. [48,49]



Figure 2. (a) Four fundamental circuit elements (b) Pinched-Hysteresis Loop [46,50]

Memristor is the combination of 'memory and resistor'. It is a memory circuit element with the function of remembering its previous resistance history [51]. The memristor can change the resistance based on the voltage change during switching on and record the resistance states after turning off the power [52]. In addition, one single memristor take the same task instead of multiple transistors and expresses in the same route of logical computation as it recorded.

The first working memristor is made by Hewlett-Packard (HP) labs in California, in 2008. This memristor has a sandwich structure of Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub>/Pt and with a size of 15nm half-pitch whereas the transistor is still of a size of 20nm in width [53]. Nevertheless, memristor requires less energy consumption and is much faster than the flash storage.

The capacity of the CMOS circuits can be improved by using both transistors and memristors. It has been widely accepted that memristor could be a possible alternative element for most current storage devices [15].

# 2.2.2 Resistive Switching Behaviour

The memristance is a property of an electronic component [54]. It can be shown as a resistive switching phenomenon, which the dielectric varies its (twoterminal) resistance due to subjecting to an external electric field or current [55]. The switching phenomenon usually comes with a non-volatile and reversible characteristic [56,57]. Resistive switching phenomenon was found by Hickmott in 1962 [58] who reported the current-voltage relationship of a metal-insulatormetal (MIM) structure. Several combinations of samples were used in his experiment such as Al/SiO/Au, Al/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/Au, Zr/ZrO<sub>2</sub>/Au, Ta/Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>/Au, and Ti/TiO<sub>2</sub>/Au. [58,59]

The resistive switching between the low resistance state (ON-state or LRS) and high resistance state (OFF-state or HRS) is electrically reversible [60]. The switching from HRS to a LRS is called a 'SET' process, while the reverse is referred as a 'RESET' process [60]. Figure 8 represents two typical switching phenomenon: bipolar switching and unipolar switching, which are classified based on the property of electrical polarity during SET and RESET operation. [60,61]



#### Figure 3. Schematic for basic resistive switching operation (a) Unipolar switching. (b) Bipolar switching [62]

Unipolar switching exhibits high resistance stage and low resistance stage under the same polarity. This means that the switching direction is due to the magnitude of the external input voltage [63]. The voltage at SET state is always higher than the voltage of RESET, and the RESET current is lower than the current compliance (CC) all the way along the SET process [64]. CC is required when conducting the SET operation which is in order to stop the device from a permanent breakdown. For bipolar switching, one polarity of the voltage is needed to switch between OFF-state and ON-state; the opposite polarity is required to switch backwards [65]. The current change for two switching operation can be seen in Figure 9. Thus it can be seen that switching from unipolar mode to a bipolar mode for a semiconducting oxide rarely happened. [63]



Figure 4. Currents (LRS and HRS) versus CCs under (a) bipolar (b) unipolar mode [64]

For a typical resistive switching device, it requires an electroforming process regardless of the materials used. The forming process, during which metal ions are injected and cause structural modifications inside, creates localized conducting filaments and results a discrete, abrupt conductance jumps [66] (Figure 4). The semi-logarithmic scale is taken for the 'pinched-hysteresis loop' [47] thus results a butterfly shape (indicate on bottom right of Figure 4). The arrows indicate the sweep direction.



Figure 5. I-V characteristics of a typical RRAM structure device [61]

## 2.3 Mechanisms of Memristor

The memristor attracted scientist's attention since 2008, that Hewlett-Packard (HP) labs in California built the first working memristor with Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub>/Pt structure. [53] The key research for the memristor includes its characteristics, physical properties (especially electrical properties) as well as its materials properties. Although researchers keep on studying the fundamental science underlies the switching mechanism of memristor, this topic of research remains challenging. Scientist create several different models to explain the resistance switching behaviours described above. Among these theoretic models, three models are the most widely accepted by the researchers: Schottky Barrier Model, conducting filament model, oxygen vacancy model. [40,60,67]

#### 2.3.1 Schottky Barrier Model

In this model, the resistance change is due to the change in Schottky barriers. The resistance changes occur at top (non-ohmic) interface of the memristor and change between HRS and LRS can be controlled by the height on the Schottky barrier at the interface of the memristor [40]. For a Pt/Ti/TiO<sub>2</sub> structure, the Schottky barrier exists on the Pt electrode and the TiO<sub>2</sub> thin film and the ohmic contact occurs between Ti and TiO<sub>2</sub> interface. When apply an electric field, the device is in low resistance state, the Schottky barrier is very weak and sometimes disappeared. Similarly, for a high resistance state, the Schottky barrier appears more outstanding than the low resistance state. According to this phenomenon, the oxygen ions migrated towards anode along the applied

electric field and the concentration of the oxygen vacancies increase rapidly at the negative electrode interface. Thus, the Schottky barrier starts to disappear and the low resistance states occur. Reversely, a positive voltage applied and lead the oxygen vacancies move back towards the Pt electrode and recover the Schottky barrier, thus a high resistance state can appears.



Figure 6. (up) Schematic of the electrode and Schottky barrier (below) Switching occurs at the Pt/TiO2 interface [40]

# 2.3.2 Conducting Filament Model

The conducting filament model is the first model that describe the resistance switching effect and the most widely accepted one. The conducting filament model suggests that when a threshold voltage is applied, the filaments can be created by the voltage breakdown in the dielectric material. The SET process (ON state) occurs when the conductive metallic filamentary conducting path is created. As a result, the resistance of the device changes from high resistance state (HRS) to low resistance state (LRS) [61]. With the time of the voltage applied, a thermal effect occurs, namely, Joule heating, the filaments are ruptured and the RESET process (OFF state) take place, the resistance becomes a HRS. The overall process results a unipolar behaviour. [55]



Figure 7. (above) (a) unipolar (nonpolar) switching in a Pt/NiO/Pt cell and (c) a filamentary conducting path (bottom)Schematics of the initial state (as-prepared sample) and (1) forming, (2) reset, and (3) set processes. [55]

# 2.3.3 Oxygen Vacancy Model

For a transition metal oxide (TMO) based memristor devices, the oxygen vacancy model is the most common explanation for the switching mechanism. A conductive filament formed when oxygen ions (or oxygen vacancies) migration occurs on both electrodes. The migration of oxygen vacancies (each oxygen vacancy has two positive charges) near the defect location along the grain boundary, resulting a large amount of oxygen vacancy defects. The anions migration is the migration of oxygen vacancies. The oxygen vacancies form hopping conduction path, like the filament model, the dielectric material breakdown then the migration of the vacancies creates the filament and SET process (ON state) takes place. For the RESET process to take place, the depletion of electrons in oxygen vacancies along the filaments to recover vacancies. Another mechanism of the anion migration is that the oxygen vacancies acts as the dopants and make the metal oxide layer conductive. The oxygen vacancies then pill up near the cathode and trapping electrons, thus the metal valency reduced and generated the filaments to move up to the anode [68,69]. Similarly, the cations migration is the migration of metal cation. In conclusion, the conductive filament in TMO based memristor devices can be formed through interconnection of the oxygen vacancy defects and caused the migration of the oxygen ions which is induced by the action of the strong electric field (voltage applied). [70] The negative voltage can be applied, and the filament is fused, which work as a restoration process of oxygen vacancies.



Figure 8. A schematic diagram for mechanism of resistive switching effects in electrochemical metallization cell: (a) metal atoms oxidized at the anode and migrated to the cathode and deoxidize therein; (b) form conductive filament in the cell (c) when voltage is reversed, the breakdown of the filament takes place, HRS occurs. [71]

# 2.4 CeO<sub>2</sub> Based Thin Film

# 2.4.1 Properties of Cerium (IV) Oxide

Cerium(IV) oxides (CeO<sub>2</sub> or ceria) is a binary solid oxide of the cerium, a rare earth metal, with a powder form of a pale yellow-white colour [72]. CeO<sub>2</sub> has been recently investigated for multiple applications, such as automotive exhaust catalyst, strong oxidant, insulating layers for silicon-based electronic device, oxygen conductor of the solid oxide fuel cells and working as a high refractive index material layer [22,73-76]. CeO<sub>2</sub> has a fluorite structure, at room temperature, the lattice constant is 5.411 Å. The stoichiometry ratio of the cerium oxide can be reduced from Ce<sup>4+</sup> to Ce<sup>3+</sup> (i.e. CeO<sub>2</sub> to Ce<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), since the reactivity of the oxide depends on its oxidation states. The schematic figure of CeO<sub>2</sub> unit cells shows that with a stable oxidation states each Ce<sup>4+</sup> cation is surrounded by 8 equivalent distance of O<sup>2-</sup> anions forming at the corners of a cube. In addition, for each O<sup>2-</sup> anion, it is surrounded by a tetrahedron of four cerium ions.



Figure 9. Schematic of CeO<sub>2</sub> unit cell [77]

CeO<sub>2</sub> is very stable even at a very high temperature (melting point: 2600 °C [78]) because of the fluorite structured oxide material with a strongly ionic bonding. The formation of lattice oxygen vacancies in CeO<sub>2</sub> leads an important role in the oxidation of CO and is associated with the reduction of Ce<sup>4+</sup> ions to Ce<sup>3+</sup> ions. From the viewpoint of increasing electrical activities, it is important to synthesize CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals with ordered structural and highly stable facets, namely, {111} facets based on theoretical calculations that is the most stable surface among the low index planes [79], which would offer the utility in accommodating oxygen deficiency and result in the semiconducting properties with a n-type characteristic (E<sub>G</sub> ≈ 3.5 eV) [80].

# 2.4.2 Self-assembly of CeO<sub>2</sub>

Various preparation methods of CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals have been reported. These methods involve different preparation temperature and environmental requirements, such as precipitation, combustion, thermal decomposition, spray pyrolysis, urea decomposition, electrochemical synthesis and microemulsion [81-86]. High temperature fabrication methods are frequently used for the previous synthesis strategies of CeO<sub>2</sub>. As there exists a trade-off between the temperature and the particle size, an ultrafine CeO<sub>2</sub> powder can be prepared and help decreasing the sintering temperature from 1500°C to 1200°C [87]. At room temperature, a range of 3-12 nm size of CeO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles have been formed by mixing directly with the same volumes of Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> and hexamethylenetetramine [88]. Recently, hydrothermal process was developed

as a synthesis method for preparing  $CeO_2$  nanoparticles [89]. Oleic acid and other organic solvents were added as stabilizing agents during the reaction of forming nanoparticles to improve the self-assembly of the resulting particles. Other factors such as the concentration of the reactants, the water/toluene ratio and the water/oil surface can influence the reaction as well. Nanocubes is considered as the most sable form of the nanoparticles, which is promoted for the preparation process for the  $CeO_2$  for the thin film fabrication. [90]

## 2.4.3 Synthesis Methods of CeO<sub>2</sub> Nanocrystals

Both shape-controlled and size-controlled synthesis of ceria nanocubes can tuned more conveniently by several factors. The amount of surfactant is one of the most remarkable factors to control the reaction system. The dispersion between nanoparticles will be evaporated with time past and yields an assembled pattern. The presence of oriented aggregation mediated precursor growth leads to great structural properties with synthesized CeO<sub>2</sub>, which are extremely intriguing for the application of insulating layers for silicon-based electronic device. The hydrothermal and solvothermal process was frequently used to prepare the CeO<sub>2</sub> particle. The reaction conditions for these two methods require a high boiling temperature medium, high temperature and high-pressure environment [91-94]. The aqueous solution of Ce(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>6</sub>, an inorganic precursors of metal salts [93], is used for the sol-gel method of preparation for the cerium oxide nanomaterials.

A microemulsion method has been used as a new synthesis strategy of  $CeO_2$ . The microemulsion is a reverse micelles process and the system consists of a continuous oil phase like oleic acid, a surfactant and a dispersed phase such as a aqueous solution [93].Oleic acid is using as a surfactant to form the stable monodispersed  $CeO_2$  nanoparticles in hydrocarbon solvents. The decomposition of cerium-oleate complex is conduct under a high boiling point in different solvents and formation of  $CeO_2$  nanoparticles can be processed. The cerium-oleate complex can be created by reacting cerium chloride heptahydrate with the sodium oleate in a mixture liquid of ethanol, water and hexane at 70°C

for 4 h [95]. An oil-liquid layer can be identified after the reaction was completed, the upper layer, a mixture of organic component, with the cerium-oleate complex then can be dissolved in the high boiling point solvents and used for thin film fabrication. The table below shows the results for dissolving oleic acid and cerium-oleate complex in different high boiling point solvents. The particle size can be controlled by the reflux condition, especially the high boiling point solvents. A longer reaction time and higher solids concentration would obtain a larger particle size.

Solvents	Boiling point (°C)	Reflux Condition	Result solution	Particle size (nm)
Octyl Ether	290	Up to 290°C for 4 h	Dark brown, contained 1 wt % solids	10-20
1- Tetradecen e	251	Up to 250°C for 2 h	Colourless, contained 1 wt % solids	10-20
Decelin	190 101	Up to 180°C for 1 h	Pale yellow, contained 1 wt % solids	5-8
Decaim	109-191	Up to 180°C for 5 h	Dark brown, contained 5 wt % solids	~10
Cosolvent Dipropylen e Glycol Monometh yl Ether	185	Up to 185°C for 10 h	Dark brown, contained 1 wt % solids	60-90
Cosolvent Dipropylen e Glycol n- Butyl Ether	230	Up to 225°C for 1 h	Dark brown, contained 1 wt % solids	~10
Cosolvent 2,2,4- Trimethyl- 1,3-	255	Up to 255°C for 1 h	Yellow, contained 1 wt % solids	30-60

Table 2. Effect of high boiling point solvent on particle size of CeO<sub>2</sub>

pentanedio I Monoisobu		Dark brown, contained 5 wt % Solids	60-90
tyrate		00103	

On the other hand, the ratio of surfactant (oleic acid) concentration with cerium precursor can have a drastic effect on the size distribution of the final nanoparticles. Y. Tao et al. report the different ratio of oleic acid (OLA), as surfactant, to cerium precursor ( $Ce(NO_3)_3$ ) and its effect on particle size of the  $CeO_2$  nanocube [96].

Ratio of OLA Concentration of OLA	to (Ce(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> ) Concentration of (Ce(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> )	Average edge length (nm)	TEM images
1	1	125.3 ± 4.2	(a) 100nm
3	1	75.6 ± 2.3	(b) 1004m

Table 3. Size of CeO <sub>2</sub> nanocube	s based on different	t ratio of OA/(Ce(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>
--------------------------------------------	----------------------	--------------------------------------------------

6	1	52.1 ± 0.8	CC TH
8	1	10.4 ±0.3	(d) 100nm

Oleic acid is not the only additive that can help the self-assembly process. Some organic solvents are added during the microemulsion process to improve the size of the particles. The highly sensitive nano-sized particles can be controlled by adding poly(ethylene glycol) into the precursor solution and thus the grain growth or particle agglomeration can be reduced [97]. A sonochemical synthesis of  $CeO_2$ nanoparticles using  $Ce(NO_3)_3$ and azodicarbonamide as starting materials with ethylene-diamine or tetraalkylammonium hydroxide as additives, or in the presence of NaOAc and ethylene glycol (EG) has been conducted. For a room temperature, a semi-batch reactor method was developed for synthesizing CeO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles [95].

# 2.4.4 Cracking-free Thin Film

CeO<sub>2</sub> is a transition metal oxide and the preparation of CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film can start with a high-quality control nanoparticle. Furthermore, using different method of fabrication may change the microstructure and the properties of the CeO<sub>2</sub>. Different characterization of the thin film is shown with different size and crystalline forms as well. This is due to the different process condition, such as temperature and preparation time, especially the preparation methods are the main reason. There are mainly two methods to use for the fabrication in this research. The structure of memristor has three layers in a sandwich layout. The top and bottom electrode is separate by an insulator layer. Furthermore, recent studies in the insulator layer show that a majority of binary transition metal oxides (TMO) [98] emerging the resistive switching phenomenon (Table 4 below). Thus, the insulator layer is also referred as a transition metal oxide layer and the namely the corresponding structure as metal-oxide-metal (MOM). [98]



Table 4. Layout and alternative materials for the MOM structured memristor [99]

Transition metal	
oxide layer	TiOX, WOX, NiOX, TaOX, HfOX
Bottom electrode	TiN, W, Pt, TaN

For a device with MOM structure, the orientation, grain size, a highly ordered structure, crystalline arrange and defects are indispensable for the high mobility. Thus, the optimizing and controlling of quality of the thin films are important for the devices and a cracking-free thin film is required for a better performance. Several different surface treatment methods have been investigated to improve the morphology and the electrical quality.
#### 2.5 UV Treatment

UV/O<sub>3</sub> treatment is normally used as a dry cleaning method to remove the surface contaminants [100]. The MOM with an Au electrode can be treated by the UV/O<sub>3</sub> and the work function of the electrode would increase [101]. This is due to the decreasing of the charge injection barrier and thus leading to a dramatic improvement for the electrical properties of the device [102]. The thin film layers are sensitive to the morphology, crystallinity, deposition parameters and other surface conditions, which will inevitably affect the  $UV/O_3$  treatment and significantly influence the performance of the devices besides the raise in work function. The UV/O<sub>3</sub> treatment can greatly decrease the water contact angle of the thin film layer and the concentration of organic particles of the surface for the thin film. The sample under an ambient condition can be kept clean for a significant long time. With a large thickness of the thin film, the films on UV/O<sub>3</sub> treated substrate would have larger grain size than the untreated samples[103]. Grain boundary can be used as a charge trap and increase the amount of charges and thus increase the grain size. It can be seen that small grains would have low surface energy with a high water contact angle, whereas the large and dendrite grains would involve a low water contact angle and high surface energy [104]. The morphology and the molecular crystal structure will have great effect on the electric characteristics.

26



Figure 10. The relationship between UV/O<sub>3</sub> treatment time and contact angle [104]

On the other hand, as afore-mentioned, the organic contaminants can be removed during the UV/O<sub>3</sub> treatment at first and then further exposure caused a dissociation excitation of carbon-hydrogen, carbon-carbon and hydroxyl bonds in near-surface layer of the thin film. The decreasing concentration of the surface contaminant and the hydroxyl groups can be considered acting as electron trap sites. Among the above reasons, the decreasing of surface contamination and increased particle grain size are mainly attribute to the change in device performance with UV/O<sub>3</sub> treatment.

#### 2.6 Plasma Treatment

Cold plasma (or glow discharges) is a surface treatment method for removing the organic contaminant from the surface of the thin film. The plasma can be generated in gases with a low pressure. A sufficiently strong electromagnetic field is applied over the gas under an applied voltage (Both alternating (AC) or static (DC) can be used). Low energy molecular species impinging on the thin film surface and the path from the plasma to the surface does not involve any strong electric fields. The reaction between ions diffused to the sample and the surface particles can form a reaction product for desorb from the surface then finally pumped away from the surface. The surface composition is highly uniform after the oxygen plasma cleaning and the power of the treatment is reduced for a shorter treatment time or a lower plasma energy.

Like the UV treatment, the surface treated by an oxygen plasma would be highly polar (i.e. hydrophilic) that is indicated by the decreasing in the water contact angle. The water contact angle for the sample surface after the oxygen plasma treatment would be less than 10 degrees. Consequently, the residual organics, which is the main source for the contamination, is reduced with the decreasing water contact angles. The polar groups such as carbon-hydrogen, carbon-carbon and hydroxyl bonds can be formed under oxygen gas atmosphere, which is very active, and the surface becomes hydrophilic after the treatment.

28



Figure 11. The SEM images of pentacene film deposited on (a) as-prepared, (b) oxygen plasma treated

#### 3. CERIUM OXIDE SUSPENSION INK

#### 3.1 In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> Ink

Cerium(III) nitrate hexahydrate (Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O) was chosen as the cerium precursors for the experiment. Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O is a translucent colourless crystal, the molecular weight is 326.12 g/mol [105]. The concentration of Indium doping was changed (2.5%,5%,7.5%,10% and 15%) and compared in the next section. To prepare a 5% In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> ink as sample, 0.10333 g of cerium nitrate and 0.00376 g  $\ln_2O_3$  (indium precursors) were dissolving in 15ml distilled water in a Teflon tube and shake for 1 min. 14.25 ml toluene, 0.6 ml oleic acid (OLA) and 0.15 ml tert-butylamine were mixed in a beaker. The mixture was then slowly poured into the Teflon tube to ensure the liquid-liquid (oil-water) interface. The Teflon tube was installed in a mould and put into the autoclave with 200°C for 36 hours. The upper solution without oil was extracted and followed by the centrifuge process. 2 ml upper solution with 4 ml ethanol were set for each centrifuge tube. The rotate speed was 1600 for 3 min. Discard the solution and left the powder stick on the tube. For each centrifuge tube, added 3 ml toluene or hexane as solvent. The final product was an In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> ink. Oleic acid was added as surfactant to improve the self-assembly of the CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocube in the solution.

The CeO<sub>2</sub> suspension ink was checked by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) for self-assembly and crystal shape. A solution with cubic shaped CeO<sub>2</sub> nanopaticles was closely packed. This solution was used to fabricate the device ensuring a cracking free thin film.

## 3.2 CeO<sub>2</sub> Ink Perfection

A hydrothermal fabrication process of  $CeO_2$  ink was taken under 200°C to confirm the shape control of the nanoparticle with temperature effect. Moreover, the cubic shape of a  $CeO_2$  nanoparticles was a special requirement of the ink preparation. The shape of the particles was near polygon and most were cubic shapes. It can be double confirmed from the literature for shape control of the nanoparticles [106].



Figure 12. TEM image of In-CeO<sub>2</sub> 200°C

Non-doped and different concentration of In-doped  $CeO_2$  ink were fabricated by the procedure in previous section. The TEM analysis was taken to check the shape of the nanocrystals and ensure the solution with a good self-assembly property. Following figures showed different concentrations of indium doping for the CeO<sub>2</sub> solution.



Figure 13. TEM image of (1) 2.5% In-doped ink (2) 5% In-doped ink



Figure 14. TEM image of (1) 10% In-doped ink (2) 15% In-doped ink

Indium ions are larger than the  $CeO_2$  ions thus shown as larger black dots [107,108]. Indium can be doped into the  $CeO_2$  successfully, but high doping concentration may raise agglomeration of the cube and hence enlarge the local nanoparticles size. Large percentages of doping would reduce the self-assembly due to this cube distortion and thus increase the chance of producing residual power during time [108].

These In-doped inks were fabricated into thin film device for further analyse of effect on the electrical properties. First of all, XRD was used to double confirmed the composition of the thin film (Figure 15). For low concentration of In-doping, nearly no Indium was detected by the XRD whereas high concentration of doping caused a cube agglomeration [109] result in XRD as the  $In(OH)_3$  compound [110].



Figure 15. XRD of (1) 2.5% In-doped ink (2) 10% In-doped ink



Figure 16. On/off ratio of (1) 5% In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> (2) 15% In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film

The on/off radio for 15% In-doped thin film was around 10. The one with 5% indium concentration had an on/off ratio up to 200. (Figure 16(1), (2)) The on/off ratio decreased as doping concentration increased, because the cube agglomeration increased the obstacles of the electron ions going through thus degraded the electrical performance for the device. The I-V curve for both doping percentage would be used as a proof. It was more stable for the change at 5% than the one with 15%. (Figure 17(1),(2)) The resistance change became unstable during test thus fail to the endurance test.



Figure 17. I-V curves of (1) 5% In-doped  $CeO_2$  (2) 15% In-doped  $CeO_2$  thin film



Figure 18. (1) In-CeO<sub>2</sub> without OLA (2) In-CeO<sub>2</sub> with 2% OLA

Similarly, adding OLA after the hydrothermal process can increase selfassembly of the cube. The TEM images show ink with 2% OLA (Figure 18(1)) presents a more closely packed and better self-assembled distribution of nanocubes than that with 1% OLA (Figure 18(2)). Over adding OLA would result a same phenomenon as doping effect. The cube agglomerating occurs when adding excess amount of OLA [111]. An agglomeration can be seen in Figure 19 (1) with the over adding amount of OLA at 2%. The intension of cubic concentration in dark area was stronger than that of in normal areas.



Figure 19. The agglomeration of CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocubes in 1.5 ml toluene with 2% OLA

As the agglomeration occurred in 1.5ml toluene with 2% OLA solution, the other areas of the same sample were poorly compact and with high void content

(Figure 20(1)). The 1.5ml toluene with 1% OLA had more close-packed nanocubes and lower chance of cavity to occurs (Figure 20(2)).



Figure 20. The CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocubes were dissolved in (1) 1.5 ml toluene with 2% OLA (2) 1.5 ml toluene with 1% OLA

### 4. CERIUM OXIDE THIN FILM DEVICE

Gold/Platinum coated silicon substrate was chosen as the bottom electrode for thin film fabrication. The silicon substrate was cut into a rectangle of 2.5 cm x 1.5 cm in size for each sample. The substrate was washed and cleaned with an ultrasonic cleaner. The cleaned silicon chips were then dried by employing nitrogen gas gun and put in an ultraviolent radiation sterilizer for about 15 minutes to guarantee a clean surface. These substrates were put in a gold sputter at 40 mA for 210 seconds.

The ink was shaken by ultrasonic to ensure the particles were suspended uniformly in the solution. For drop-coating method, one layer contained 10/20 drops ink of 20  $\mu$ mL per drop. With a spin coating process, the spin coater was set up for one routine at a spin speed of 1000 cycles per second for 20 seconds. A micropipette with a drop of 20  $\mu$ mL was used for one routine. For one single layer of the thin film, 6 routines were applied. After spin coating for each layer, the plasma treatment was introduced. For a plasma treatment, O<sub>2</sub> were employed, and the power was set at low (7W) for one hour. The layer of thin film was dried during this stage. No annealing process was required as the ink was a crystalized product. Final sample involved in this experiment were of four and eight layers to ensure the thickness and properties for the testing.

A scanning electron microscope (SEM) test was applied to the gold coated substrate to ensure a flat surface and hence reduce the effect to the thin film. An X-ray diffraction (XRD) test was conducted to analysis the composition of

42

the thin film. The SEM test also was applied for the thin film to analysis the microstructure and morphology. The Focused ion beam (FIB) was involved as a conformation for composition and thickness checking. The sample was covered by a gold top electrode using a special mask before property tests, each electrode of 250 µm in size using a gold sputter as well.

The sample was connected to the Auto-lab by a probe-station; the I-V characteristic was tested through the program. The voltage and current changes were captured for further analysis. The stretching test was conducted during this stage as well. In addition, a digital source meter was employed to test the endurance and retention in a similar way to the Auto-lab program.

## 4.1 Cracking free CeO<sub>2</sub> Thin Film

## 4.1.1 Effect of Solvent

A CeO<sub>2</sub> ink with 5% In-doping was involved in fabrication of the thin film using drop-coating method. Toluene and hexane both could be used as the solvent of the ink to improve self-assembly. A line scan by TEM confirmed the composition of the thin film.



Figure 21. Line scan of thin film

The SEM test of both samples was done to compare the morphology of the thin film. Plasma processing technique has been significantly reduced top electrode drainage problems [112] from the sputtering process by producing a highly dense , compact and cracking-free [113]  $CeO_2$  thin films. Sample 1 used toluene as the solvent and other conditions were the same as that of sample 2.



Figure 22. Sample 1: Hexane (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $O_2$ ) thin film Sample 2: Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $O_2$ ) thin film



There was nearly no crack in sample 1, and only some elongation and agglomeration occur in this sample. In sample 2, the agglomeration was more rapid. The boiling point of hexane and toluene was 69°C and 110.6 °C [114,115], respectively. Both of them were lower than the boiling point of OLA [114], 360 °C, so the agglomeration occurred in both sample.



Figure 23. Morphology of Hexane (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $O_2$ ) thin film



Figure 24. Morphology of Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $O_2$ ) thin film

Plasma processing technique could reduce top electrode drainage issue from the sputtering process by producing a highly dense, compact and cracking-free CeO<sub>2</sub> thin films. During the plasma treatment (high temperature dried out), the boiling point of toluene was higher than hexane and took the role of solvent for more time thus reduce the rate of agglomeration. OLA was hard to break down so the thickness of the thin film raised [116]. Sample with solvent of toluene had better resistance switching change than the one with hexane (Figure 25). Over all, the switching phenomenon was not critical for both samples, which can be ascribed as a cooperative action of the positively charged oxygen vacancies [117] and external electric field due to a thick switching layer [118].



Figure 25. Resistance switching of (1) Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $O_2$ ) (2) Hexane (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 1h ( $O_2$ )

## 4.1.2 Effect of Plasma Treatment Time

Longer plasma treatment time can increase the break down ratio of OLA. The reduced rate of agglomeration would decrease the effective thickness of the switching layer so as to accomplish a stable bipolar resistance switching behaviour. Gold and Platinum were coated as the bottom electrode of the device. The thin films were done by drop-coating method follow by a 4 hour O<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment. The SEM figures were shown below.

Large cracking area had been found due to over drying of both samples. The percentage of agglomeration was a trade off with crack generation. Longer drying time do reduce the agglomeration but introduce the formation of crack on the surface of the thin film. There is no significant impact on surface morphology due to the bottom electrode.



Figure 26. Morphology of Toluene (0.5% oleic acid), plasma 4h (O<sub>2</sub>) thin film (1) Gold coated substrate (2) Platinum coated substrate

# 4.2 Electrical Properties of Thin Film Device

Three samples were made to compare the thickness of the thin film and improved the resistance switching phenomenon. Table below listed the determinant factors of each sample. The samples were made by spin coating method.

	Solvent	Thickness	Surface of samples
Sample 1	Pure Toluene	1 layer	
Sample 2	Toluene with 0.5% oleic acid	1 layer	

Table 5. Determinant factors for sample 1-3

Sample Toluene with 3 layers   3 Toluene with 3 layers	Sample 3	Toluene with 0.5% oleic acid	3 layers	
--------------------------------------------------------	-------------	------------------------------------	----------	--

The surface of sample 1 had obvious defect due to lack of self-assembly for the nanocube in the ink. Sample 2 and sample 3 were crack free and the switching phenomenon was test for all three samples.





Figure 27. Best I-V curve for Sample 1, Sample 2, Sample 3 (top to bottom)

For each sample, 5 different points of electrode had been chosen for each trial. No resistance switching behaviour had been found in sample 1. Unstable switching with less sweep had been found for sample 2. Most sweeps and relatively stable resistance switching occurred in sample 3. The result confirmed that the self-assembly [119] of the nanocubes in suspension ink could influence the morphology and electrical properties of the thin film devices. A reasonable thickness of the thin film was required to ensure the resistance change and the endurance of the device. The resistance change was mainly caused by moving of oxygen vacancy [120]. Plasma treatment improves the activity of the vacancy transportation, and the reasonable thickness of the thin film ensured the sum of the transportation to take place. Both factors resulted a better evident resistance switching phenomenon in sample 3.

## 4.2.1 Improve by Adding Organic Ligands

Recent researches have been raised the relationship of stress and crack generation [121-124]. The bottom-up approach was employed to reduce the crack produced during the densification of the nanocubes into a solid-state thin film. Stress could overcome weak forces and hold colloidal nanoparticles together. The ordered colloidal nanoparticles had more chance to cause a cracking surface [125] especially when removing the ligands (the carbon concentration was decreased to 0.6% through plasma treatment). An organic ligand calibration was then employed to improve the CeO<sub>2</sub> ink.

The organic ligand [126] used in this experiment was trioctylphosphine oxide (TOPO), a polar molecule ligand calibration. The close-packed TOPO molecules could bond to the same surface due to the phosphine oxide group

54

and suffer a dipole-dipole interaction, thus the molecules would repel with each other. The poor solvation of TOPO ligand shell could result in a formation of 'sticky' surfaces of building blocks which can obstruct a 3D ordered assembly by yielding kinetically trapped nanocubes. The poor solvation also caused an interdigitation with potentially yield more cohesive array of molecules so as to achieve a compact, dense, non-cracking, porosity-free thin film and ensure a reproducible electrical property [125,126].

TOPO was added at the ratio of 0.13g/1ml in both toluene and hexane based CeO<sub>2</sub> suspension solution. Thin film deposition was conducted by drop coating and spin coating. The samples were then going through a drying process under the O<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment for 5 hours.



Figure 28. (1) Toluene with TOPO (2) Hexane with TOPO on Au coated Si substrate

It was seen that 5 hours were not enough to completely remove the ligand; extra hours of plasma treatment were necessary to be taken. As spin coating deposition produces comparable thinner films, SEM examination was only carried out on the spin-coated samples after 5 hours' plasma treatment. The result thin films of drop coating were too thick that could hardly be observed with SEM.

Figure 29 (1) and (2) were relative darker than normal SEM images, indicated a non-drying thin film and the black regions shown the part of wet solution. Longer treatment time would result increasing chance of crack producing. TOPO was hard to be decomposed and create an organic compound layer on top of the thin film thus reduce the detection of the electrical properties of the thin film.





Figure 29. SEM images of spin coated (1) Toluene with TOPO (2) Hexane with TOPO on Au coated Si substrate after 5 hour  $O_2$  plasma

## 4.2.2 Inkjet Printing of Top electrode deposition

One of most effective defect of the device which compromise the performance of the electrical properties of the device was that top electrode drainage during sputtering process. Inkjet printing for top electrode deposition promises contactfree processing environment (especially, no physical scratches or damage on the thin film produces during the processing), it also allows a more accurate and compact parameter alignment and customizable production size.

Instead of gold top electrode, a silver top electrode was used for inkjet printing process. The homogeneous conductive silver printing ink (35 wt% with 150 nm particle size) with fixed droplets size and space (250 µm) dropped on the cerium oxide films for two and five repeated times. The top electrodes were not clear to seen in sample 1 whereas in sample 2 the silver top electrode could be clearly verified.



Figure 30. Sample 1: Inkjet printed for 2 repeated cycles (left) Sample 2: Inkjet printed for 5 repeated cycles (right)



Figure 31. I-V curve for top electode with (1) 2 repeated cycles (2) 5 repeated cycles

Plasma treated cerium oxide films have successfully demonstrated resistive switching behaviour by employing silver top electrode though a facile inkjet printing approach. The appeal of electrical properties also confirmed the inherent resistance change of the prepared CeO<sub>2</sub> thin films. The divergent resistive switching behaviour observed in both samples were based on the difference in silver quantity of the top electrode. The unipolar phenomenon was obtained when the amount of silver is deficient (more obvious in 5 repeated cycles of the silver top electrode).

#### 5. TPU BASED CERIUM OXIDE THIN FILM DEVICE

Thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) was an elastomer, which had typical properties of high elasticity, high shear strength and high abrasion resistance [127]. TPU was transparency [128], so the cracking could be indicated more easily. In conclusion, TPU was selected as the substrate for the stretching substrate of the thin film device. The substrates were cleaned using an ultrasonic cleaner. TPU was sensitive to high temperature performance and underwent thermal deformation after long time UV lightening. A short time of surface clean process was chosen. Silver was coated by a sputter to work as the bottom electrode for the device. The sample was a two-layers device with CeO<sub>2</sub> layer at bottom and 5% In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> at top. For both layers, only one drop with 20 µmL ink was coated by drop-coating method. The sample was also covered by a gold top electrode under a similar method to silicon based samples. The original sample was made at an original length of 4 cm. The device was then sticked on a metal plate for I-V measurement.



Figure 32. Illustration of the TPU based device

The elongation was 1 mm for the stretchable state along the direction indicated by the red arrow. The strain was estimated by  $\Delta L/L$ , where L is the original length,  $\Delta L$  is the length of elongation. The device was subsequently measured for five 'stretch-relax' cycles. Electrical properties were tested during each stage of the sample.
## 5.1 Surface Morphology

The sample was made using a spin coating method to improve the uniformity of the thin film. The TPU substrate was fixed on a piece of glass for spin coating to minimize twist.



Figure 33. Morphology of TPU substrate



Figure 34. Morphology of CeO<sub>2</sub>/In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film

From Figure 33, the surface morphology of TPU is porous. The ink could be permeated into the TPU substrate. Furthermore, TPU is not as reflective as silicon or other conductive glass substrate with gold bottom electrode, it was difficult to tell whether the OLA was completely removed from the thin film or not. SEM was not sufficient to analyse the surface structure in this case. A FIB test was done to analyze the thin film more closely.



Figure 35. FIB of CeO<sub>2</sub>/In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> Device



Figure 36. Thickness and morphology of CeO<sub>2</sub>/In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film

The composition of the thin film layers was indicated on Figure 35. The thickness of the thin film was around 1.32 µm. There exist some elliptic shaped conglobation [127] in the thin film. Therefore, another problem was that the ink dried much more quickly than that on the other substrates. Solvent diffused more quickly and conglobation occurred easily.

### 5.2 Stretching Test with On/off Ratio

Three samples were tested with a length of elongation of 1mm, 2mm, 4mm, respectively. (Figure 37) The corresponding strains were 2.5%, 5%, and 10%. The on/off ratio for each state (original state - O, stretch state - S, and relax state - R) in 'stretch-relax' cycles were recorded blow.



Sample A:  $\Delta L$  = 1mm, Strain: 2.5%



Sample B:  $\Delta L$  = 2mm, Strain: 5%



Sample C:  $\Delta L$  = 4mm, Strain: 10%

Figure 37. On/off ratio for each state (original state - O, stretch state - S, and relax state - R) in 'stretch-relax' cycles: Sample A-C

The resistive switching behaviour can be observed even after 5 cycles. However, no typical regularity could be attained. This was because TPU has poor thermal conductivity, thus a silver conductive coating was required. Cracks generated while stretching, which gave rise to short circuit in some areas. Nevertheless, it still worked at another point. In addition, the measurement points burned straight frequently after the stretching test shown that the heat generated during the test had not been released and reduce the performance of the device. The CeO<sub>2</sub> suspension ink with a solvent of toluene had chemical reaction with the TPU [127] and arise the problem of substrate shape change. Moreover, the CeO<sub>2</sub> ink flowed in an uncontrollable direction and influenced the uniformity of the thin film layer result an unstable on/off ratio for the devices.

#### **5.3 Electrical Properties of Devices**

A device with TPU substrate, with the structure of Au/CeO<sub>2</sub>/Au/TPU, was tested for the electrical performance. A length of elongation of 1mm was chosen for stretching testing. Voltage – current sweeping and endurance test were conducted for the device in original state, stretching and relaxing state, respectively. The resistance change existed in the sample but which is not stable, and the sample was damaged after testing. Different points on the same sample would result similar voltage change thus double confirmed the electrical properties of the thin film. Resistance change for one cycle was called a 'stretch-relax' (Original state -> Stretching state -> Relax state) cycle. Typical I-V curves and endurance test of each state are shown below.

Figure 38 (a) shows the I-V curves of the TPU device, where resistive switching can be found. However, the device has a small ON/OFF window around 5, as shown in Figure 38 (b). On the other hand, there are some noises in the endurance curve, which may be caused by the stretchable nature of TPU. The resistive switching behaviour of the device was also tested under stretching state. As shown in Figure 39 (a), the I-V curves became unstable and the ON/OFF ratio was only around 3. It is interesting that the device is more stable compared with original state, as indicated in Figure 39 (b). After relaxing, the device shows similar resistive switching with original one, which are shown in Figure 40.





Figure 38. Original State: (a) I-V curves (b) Pulse change





Figure 39. Stretching State: (a) I-V curves (b) Pulse change





Figure 40. Relaxing State: (a) I-V curves (b) Pulse change

For a successful point the resistance change should occurs in all three states (Cycle 1,2,3) and passing the 1000 times endurance test as well. Moreover, a sample with several points (points were numbered using a matrix) were tested for pristine state and same testing process after 100 cycles of stretching. The results were shown in the following tables. For each symbol in the table, a typical sample of resistance change were given below.

- refers to the fixed top electrode.
- X in the table indicates failure within the first 3 times I-V sweeps.



Figure 41. Typical I-V curve for failure within first 3 times I-V sweeps

 X with yellow highlighted in the table indicates the point exist a resistance change but failed during the 1000 times endurance test.



Figure 42. Typical (a) I-V curve and (b) endurance change for successful resistance change but failed during the 1000 times endurance test

-  $\sqrt{}$  with green highlighted in the table indicates a test of point was success.



Figure 43. Typical (a) I-V curve and (b) endurance change for successful resistance change and 1000 times endurance test

Table 6. Device performance matrix at pristine state

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	- I
1	V	х	х	х	Х	х	V	V	V
2	х	*	х	х	*	Х	V	*	V
3	х	$\checkmark$	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	$\checkmark$	V
4	V	х	V	х	х	х	V	х	х
5	х	*	Х	х	*	х	V	*	V
6	$\checkmark$	х	$\checkmark$	х	Х	х	V	Х	V
7	х	х	х	х	х	X	V	V	V
8	х	*	Х	х	*	х	V	*	Х
9	х	х	х	х	Х	х	V	х	V

Table 7.Device performance matrix after 100 cycles of stretching

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
1	х	Х	х	x	х	х	х	$\checkmark$	х
2	х	*	х	х	*	х	х	*	V
3	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х	V
4	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х	$\checkmark$	х
5	Х	*	Х	х	*	Х	V	*	Х
6	Х	х	Х	х	х	х	Х	х	V
7	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	V
8	Х	*	Х	Х	*	Х	V	*	Х
9	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	V

On the basis of the two tables above, the success rate of device performance matrix at pristine state was 24/81 ( $\checkmark$  with green highlighted: nearly 29.63%). This rate was rapidly decreased after 100 cycles of stretching, the successful test was 9/81 ( $\checkmark$  with green highlighted: nearly 11.11%). This may be due to the poor thermal conductivity of TPU and the heat generated during the test cannot be released, which may influence the performance of each test. The testing point was easily burned out after measurements. The other problem was that the toluene in the ink solution has chemical reaction with TPU substrate, giving rise to the surface morphology change of TPU. The areas under different top electrodes may have variable performance. Several points changed from no properties to an unstable resistance change (X to X with yellow highlighted) was an evidence for the shape change of the substrate.

#### 6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUTION

In this thesis, resistive switching devices based on CeO<sub>2</sub> nanomaterials have been fabricated and the electrical properties have been optimized through engineering the interface and point defects. CeO<sub>2</sub> thin films act as the switching media for the devices and they were prepared by solution processed methods via self-assembly of CeO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. The morphology and switching performances of thin films were improved by a UV/Ozone as well as plasma treatment. For the fabrication of the wearable devices, TPU, an elastic substrate, was used as stretchable substrates and the electrical properties in different stretching states were systematically studied.

First of all, pure and In-doped CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals were synthesized using hydrothermal method. The CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals were assembled into thin films for the fabrication of Au/CeO<sub>2</sub>/Au/Si devices. It is interesting that doping process can improve the pack density [129] of the ink and help self-assembly thus ensure low cracking thin film with resistance change. Different percentage of doping would influence the self-assembly of the suspension ink, higher concentration of doping caused agglomeration affect the uniformity of the result thin film reduces the resistance change. Low concentration of doping would have a high on/off ratio for the thin film, vice versa. To balance the trade of memristor performance and rate of self-assembly of CeO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals, i.e. achieving cracking-free state of CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film, a 5% doping of indium was chosen for the suspension ink.

Second, a thin film with a flat, non-cracking surface had more stable switching behaviors. The thin films were prepared by drop-coating and dried by a plasma treatment, which can activate more oxygen vacancy in nanocrystals. Herein, the role of oleic acid on the structure of the thin film has been studied. Oleic acid was an organic acid, which can increase the performance of self-assembly dramatically when adding in In-doped suspension ink. However, excess amount of oleic acid would increase the chance of agglomeration and conglobation of the nanoparticle of the ink. On the other hand, organic acid with a high boiling point was hard to remove during drying or plasma treatment. Longer drying time was required for inks involved oleic acid. Overheating by plasma can cause crack generation and reduce the quality of the thin film. Herein, the solvent for suspension solution also affects the surface morphology of the film during drying process. It was found that toluene was more suitable than hexane as it had a higher boiling point. The final composition of the inks were chosen with a solvent of toluene at 5% In-doped follow by adding oleic acid afterwards (a ratio of ink : OLA is 1.5 : 1.)

Third, CeO<sub>2</sub> thin films with different layers were fabricate where very thick film had no resistance change, and very thin film resulted cracking surface. Optimal resistive switching has been achieved in thin film device which has a relative small thickness and a flat cracking free surface. Some alternative surfactants were applied to improve the surface morphology of the thin film. Ligand calibration such as trioctylphosphine oxide (TOPO) can improve the crack generation of the film. However, TOPO was hard to dry and would leave an organic layer on top of the film, thus it was not applicable for the CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film

under the plasma treatment. Fourth, the role of top electrodes was also studies. For example silver top electrodes were successfully produced through ink-jet printing and the electrical properties were tested.

Finally, CeO<sub>2</sub> thin film flexible device was made using a TPU stretchable substrate. The device did not have perfect surface morphology due to the porous characteristic of the substrate. Resistive switching had been observed at a success rate of 30% from the sample device even after 100 'stretch-relax' cycles. Thus CeO<sub>2</sub> has potential for stretchable memory devices. More improvement could be done to improve the stability of resistance change of the device.

A success thin film device with a stretchable substrate can be involved in future flexible devices. Wearable devices with memristor characteristic would be one main future industry in the near future. A reduce of device size would be one critical requirement for the future device. This research on UV/O<sub>3</sub> and plasma treatment can help improve the electrical characteristic of the switching materials and give rise to resistance change thus achieve a smaller size of the wearable device.

# 7. REFERENCE

- 1. R.R.Schallor, *Moore's law: past, present and future.* IEEE Spectrum, 1997. **34**(6): p. 52-59.
- 2. Billinghurst, M. and T. Starner, *Wearable devices: new ways to manage information*. Computer, 1999. **32**(1): p. 57-64.
- 3. Waser, R. and M. Aono, *Nanoionics-based resistive switching memories*. Nature Materials, 2007. **6**(11): p. 833-840.
- 4. Deori, K., D. Gupta, and B. Saha, *Design of 3-Dimensionally Self-Assembled CeO*<sub>2</sub> *Nanocube as a Breakthrough Catalyst for Efficient Alkylarene Oxidation in Water.* ACS Catalysis, 2014. **4**(9): p. 3169-3179.
- 5. Lee, M.-J., S.I. Kim, and C.B. Lee, *Low-Temperature-Grown Transition Metal Oxide Based Storage Materials and Oxide Transistors for High-Density Non-volatile Memory.* Advanced Functional Materials, 2009. **19**(10): p. 1587-1593.
- 6. *Cerium(IV) oxide*. 2018 [cited 2018 10.20].
- Bassous, E., Fabrication of novel three-dimensional microstructures by the anisotropic etching of (100) and (110) silicon. IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 1978. 25(10): p. 1178-1185.
- Lahmar, A., T.P. Nguyen, and D. Sakami, *Experimental investigation on the thermal contact resistance between gold coating and ceramic substrates*. Thin Solid Films, 2001. 389(1-2): p. 167-172.
- Haneda, H. and M. Kuwabara, Characteristics of CeO<sub>2</sub> Nanocubes and Related Polyhedra Prepared by Using a Liquid–Liquid Interface. Crystal Growth & Design, 2010.
   10(10): p. 4537-4541.
- 10. Hirano, M. and E. Kato, *Hydrothermal Synthesis of Nanocrystalline Cerium(IV) Oxide Powders.* Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 2004. **82**(3): p. 786-788.
- 11. Tok, A.I.Y., et al., *Hydrothermal synthesis of CeO2 nano-particles*. Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 2007. **190**(1-3): p. 217-222.
- 12. Chang, P.S. and J.s. Rhee, *Simultaneous high-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of oleic acid and simple glycerides of oleic acid.* Journal of Chromatography A, 1989. **465**(3): p. 438-441.
- 13. Kim, H., M.P. Sah, and S.P. Adhikari *Pinched Hysteresis Loops is the Fingerprint of Memristive Devices*. 2012. arXiv:1202.2437.
- 14. Castells, M., *The rise of the network society: The information age: Economy, society, and culture.* Vol. 1. 2011: John Wiley & Sons.
- 15. Park, S., et al., *Flexible molecular-scale electronic devices*. Nature nanotechnology, 2012. **7**(7): p. 438-442.
- 16. Nrc.gov. *NRC: Backgrounder on the Three Mile Island Accident*. 2014 [cited 2017 5 June]; Available from: <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/fact-sheets/3mile-isle.html</u>.
- 17. Nei.org. Chernobyl Accident And Its Consequences Nuclear Energy Institute. 2015 [cited 2017 5 June]; Available from: <u>https://www.nei.org/Master-Document-Folder/Backgrounders/Fact-Sheets/Chernobyl-Accident-And-Its-Consequences</u>.
- 18. World-nuclear.org. *Fukushima Accident World Nuclear Association*. 2017 [cited 2017 5 June]; Available from: <u>http://www.world-nuclear.org/information-library/safety-and-security/safety-of-plants/fukushima-accident.aspx</u>.
- 19. Burks, A.R. and A.W. Burks, *The first electronic computer: the Atanasoff story*. 1989: University of Michigan Press.

- 20. En.wikipedia.org. *Atanasoff–Berry computer*. 2017 [cited 2017 5 June]; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Atanasoff%E2%80%93Berry\_computer.
- 21. GUO, X., et al., *Memristive ionic devices for information storage, logic operations and brain neural function.* Chinese Science Bulletin, 2014. **59**(30): p. 2926-2936.
- Madelung, O., *Technology and applications of amorphous silicon*. Springer, Berlin, 2000.
   **15**: p. 2934-2936.
- 23. Ju, S., et al., *Fabrication of fully transparent nanowire transistors for transparent and flexible electronics.* Nature nanotechnology, 2007. **2**(6): p. 378-384.
- 24. Nomura, K., et al., *Room-temperature fabrication of transparent flexible thin-film transistors using amorphous oxide semiconductors.* Nature, 2004. **432**(7016): p. 488-492.
- 25. Gomez De Arco, L., et al., *Continuous, highly flexible, and transparent graphene films by chemical vapor deposition for organic photovoltaics.* ACS nano, 2010. **4**(5): p. 2865-2873.
- 26. Klauk, H., et al., *Ultralow-power organic complementary circuits.* nature, 2007. **445**(7129): p. 745-748.
- 27. Sekitani, T., et al., *Flexible organic transistors and circuits with extreme bending stability*. Nature materials, 2010. **9**(12): p. 1015-1022.
- Kim, S.-J. and J.-S. Lee, *Flexible organic transistor memory devices*. Nano letters, 2010.
   10(8): p. 2884-2890.
- 29. Sekitani, T., et al., Organic nonvolatile memory transistors for flexible sensor arrays. Science, 2009. **326**(5959): p. 1516-1519.
- Lim, Z., et al., A facile approach towards ZnO nanorods conductive textile for room temperature multifunctional sensors. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2010. 151(1): p. 121-126.
- 31. Mannsfeld, S.C., et al., *Highly sensitive flexible pressure sensors with microstructured rubber dielectric layers*. Nature materials, 2010. **9**(10): p. 859-864.
- 32. Gelinck, G.H., et al., *Flexible active-matrix displays and shift registers based on solution-processed organic transistors.* Nature materials, 2004. **3**(2): p. 106-110.
- 33. Sekitani, T., et al., *Stretchable active-matrix organic light-emitting diode display using printable elastic conductors*. Nature materials, 2009. **8**(6): p. 494-499.
- 34. Kim, D.-H., et al., *Dissolvable films of silk fibroin for ultrathin conformal bio-integrated electronics.* Nature materials, 2010. **9**(6): p. 511-517.
- 35. Carey, P.G., et al., *Polysilicon thin film transistors fabricated on low temperature plastic substrates.* Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films, 1999. **17**(4): p. 1946-1949.
- 36. Kagan, C., Andry, P., Eds, *Transistors, Thin Film*. 2003, Marcel Dekker: New York.
- 37. Shaw, J.M. and P.F. Seidler, *Organic electronics: introduction.* IBM Journal of Research and Development, 2001. **45**(1): p. 3-9.
- Yang, C.-S., et al., Stability of low-temperature amorphous silicon thin film transistors formed on glass and transparent plastic substrates. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 2000. 18(2): p. 683-689.
- 39. Dimitrakopoulos, C.D. and D.J. Mascaro, *Organic thin-film transistors: A review of recent advances.* IBM Journal of research and development, 2001. **45**(1): p. 11-27.
- Hosono, H., et al., Working hypothesis to explore novel wide band gap electrically conducting amorphous oxides and examples. Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids, 1996.
   198: p. 165-169.
- 41. Haartman, M. and M. Ostling, *Low-frequency Noise in Advanced Mos Devices*. 2007, Dordrecht: Springer.
- 42. Baker, R.J., *CMOS: Circuit Design, Layout, and Simulation, Revised, 2nd Edition*. 2007: John Wiley & Sons.

- 43. Blicher, A., *Field-effect and bipolar power transistor physics*. 1981, New York: Academic Press.
- 44. The MOSFET. 2018; Available from: <u>https://www.electronics-</u> tutorials.ws/transistor/tran 6.html.
- 45. *transistor* / *Definition* & *Uses*. 2018; Available from: <u>http://www.britannica.com/technology/transistor ref837083</u>.
- 46. Strukov, D.B., et al., *The missing memristor found*. nature, 2009. **459**(7250): p. 1154-1154.
- 47. Chua, L., *Memristor-the missing circuit element*. IEEE Transactions on circuit theory, 1971. **18**(5): p. 507-519.
- 48. Adamatzky, A. and L. Chua, *Memristor networks*.
- Chua, L., *Resistive switching memories are memristors*. Applied Physics A, 2011. 102(4): p. 765-783.
- 50. Dongale, T., et al., *Development of Ag/WO<sub>3</sub>/ITO thin film memristor using spray pyrolysis method.* Electronic Materials Letters, 2015. **11**(6): p. 944-948.
- 51. Tetzlaff, R., *Memristors and memristive systems*. 2014: Springer.
- 52. Kavehei, O., et al. The fourth element: characteristics, modelling and electromagnetic theory of the memristor. in Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences. 2010. The Royal Society.
- 53. Hpl.hp.com. *Memristor FAQ*. 2009 [cited 2016 28 January]; Available from: http://www.hpl.hp.com/news/2008/apr-jun/memristor\_faq.html.
- 54. Rozenberg, M., *Resistive switching*. Scholarpedia, 2011. **6**(4): p. 11414.
- Sawa, A., Resistive switching in transition metal oxides. Materials today, 2008. 11(6): p. 28-36.
- 56. Hidaka, H. and Y. Sofer. *Non-Volatile Memories*. in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2007. *ISSCC 2007. Digest of Technical Papers. IEEE International*. 2007. IEEE.
- 57. Chen, A., et al. Non-volatile resistive switching for advanced memory applications. in Electron Devices Meeting, 2005. IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International. 2005. IEEE.
- 58. Hickmott, T., *Low-frequency negative resistance in thin anodic oxide films*. Journal of Applied Physics, 1962. **33**(9): p. 2669-2682.
- 59. Lacaze, P.-C. and J.-C. Lacroix, *Non-volatile memories*. 2014: John Wiley & Sons.
- 60. Yang, J.J., et al., *Memristive switching mechanism for metal/oxide/metal nanodevices*. Nature nanotechnology, 2008. **3**(7): p. 429-433.
- 61. Zhuge, F., B. Fu, and H. Cao, *Advances in Resistive Switching Memories Based on Graphene Oxide*. 2013: INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- 62. Ielmini, D., *Modeling the universal set/reset characteristics of bipolar RRAM by fieldand temperature-driven filament growth.* IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 2011. **58**(12): p. 4309-4317.
- 63. Schindler, C., et al., Bipolar and Unipolar Resistive Switching in Cu-Doped \$\ hbox {SiO} \_ {2} \$\$. IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 2007. 54(10): p. 2762-2768.
- 64. Waser, R., et al., *Redox-based resistive switching memories-nanoionic mechanisms, prospects, and challenges.* Advanced materials, 2009. **21**(25-26): p. 2632-2663.
- 65. Rahaman, S., et al., *Repeatable unipolar/bipolar resistive memory characteristics and switching mechanism using a Cu nanofilament in a GeO<sub>x</sub> film. Applied Physics Letters, 2012. 101(7): p. 073106.*
- 66. Jo, S.H., et al., *Nanoscale memristor device as synapse in neuromorphic systems*. Nano letters, 2010. **10**(4): p. 1297-1301.
- 67. Lee, M.-J., et al., *Electrical manipulation of nanofilaments in transition-metal oxides for resistance-based memory.* Nano letters, 2009. **9**(4): p. 1476-1481.
- 68. Xu, N., et al. A unified physical model of switching behavior in oxide-based RRAM. in VLSI Technology, 2008 Symposium on. 2008. IEEE.

- 69. Waser, R., *Resistive non-volatile memory devices*. Microelectronic Engineering, 2009. **86**(7): p. 1925-1928.
- 70. Chen, M.-C., et al., *Influence of electrode material on the resistive memory switching property of indium gallium zinc oxide thin films.* Applied Physics Letters, 2010. **96**(26): p. 262110.
- 71. Feng, P., et al., *Nonvolatile resistive switching memories-characteristics, mechanisms and challenges.* Progress in Natural Science: Materials International, 2010. **20**: p. 1-15.
- 72. En.wikipedia.org. *Cerium(IV) oxide*. 2017 [cited 2017 20 Jun]; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cerium(IV)\_oxide.
- 73. Steele, B., Mass transport in materials incorporated in electrochemical energy conversion systems. Solid State Ionics, 1984. **12**: p. 391-406.
- 74. Tschöpe, A., et al., *Catalytic properties of nanostructured metal oxides synthesized by inert gas condensation.* Nanostructured Materials, 1997. **9**(1-8): p. 423-432.
- Mogensen, M., N.M. Sammes, and G.A. Tompsett, *Physical, chemical and electrochemical properties of pure and doped ceria.* Solid State Ionics, 2000. **129**(1): p. 63-94.
- 76. Kaneko, K., et al., *Structural and morphological characterization of cerium oxide nanocrystals prepared by hydrothermal synthesis.* Nano letters, 2007. **7**(2): p. 421-425.
- 77. Oaks, A. *Background*. 2010 [cited 2017 20 Jun]; Available from: <u>https://courses.physics.illinois.edu/phys466/sp2013/projects/2010/Oaks/h</u> <u>tml/node3.html</u>.
- 78. Yoshimoto, M., et al., Room-temperature epitaxial growth of CeO<sub>2</sub> thin films on Si (111) substrates for fabrication of sharp oxide/silicon interface. Japanese journal of applied physics, 1995. **34**(6A): p. L688.
- 79. Deshpande, S., et al., *Size dependency variation in lattice parameter and valency states in nanocrystalline cerium oxide*. Applied Physics Letters, 2005. **87**(13): p. 133113.
- 80. Barreca, D., et al., *Nucleation and Growth of Nanophasic CeO2 Thin Films by Plasma* -*Enhanced CVD.* Chemical Vapor Deposition, 2003. **9**(4): p. 199-206.
- 81. Matijević, E. and W.P. Hsu, *Preparation and properties of monodispersed colloidal particles of lanthanide compounds: I. Gadolinium, europium, terbium, samarium, and cerium (III).* Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 1987. **118**(2): p. 506-523.
- 82. Varma, H., et al., *Flash combustion synthesis of cerium oxide*. Journal of materials science letters, 1990. **9**(4): p. 377-379.
- Guillou, N., J. Auffrédic, and D. Louër, An unexpected double valence change for cerium during the thermal decomposition of CeK2 (NO<sub>3</sub>) 6. Journal of Solid State Chemistry, 1995. 115(1): p. 295-298.
- 84. Okuyama, K. and I.W. Lenggoro, *Preparation of nanoparticles via spray route*. Chemical engineering science, 2003. **58**(3): p. 537-547.
- 85. Masui, T., et al., *Characterization of cerium (IV) oxide ultrafine particles prepared using reversed micelles.* Chemistry of Materials, 1997. **9**(10): p. 2197-2204.
- 86. Zhou, Y., R.J. Phillips, and J.A. Switzer, *Electrochemical synthesis and sintering of nanocrystalline cerium (IV) oxide powders.* Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 1995. **78**(4): p. 981-985.
- 87. Chen, P.L. and I.W. Chen, *Reactive cerium (IV) oxide powders by the homogeneous precipitation method.* Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 1993. **76**(6): p. 1577-1583.
- 88. Zhang, F., et al., *Cerium oxide nanoparticles: size-selective formation and structure analysis.* Applied physics letters, 2002. **80**(1): p. 127-129.
- Mousavand, T., et al., Hydrothermal synthesis and in situ surface modification of boehmite nanoparticles in supercritical water. The Journal of supercritical fluids, 2007.
   40(3): p. 397-401.

- 90. Zhou, H.-P., et al., *Thermally stable Pt/CeO*<sub>2</sub> *hetero-nanocomposites with high catalytic activity*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2010. **132**(14): p. 4998-4999.
- 91. Holt, J. College of William and Mary.
- 92. Inoue, M., M. Kimura, and T. Inui, *Transparent colloidal solution of 2 nm ceria particles*. Chemical Communications, 1999(11): p. 957-958.
- 93. Sathyamurthy, S., et al., *Reverse micellar synthesis of cerium oxide nanoparticles*. Nanotechnology, 2005. **16**(9): p. 1960.
- 94. Rajamathi, M. and R. Seshadri, *Oxide and chalcogenide nanoparticles from hydrothermal/solvothermal reactions.* Current Opinion in Solid State and Materials Science, 2002. **6**(4): p. 337-345.
- 95. Gu, H. and M.D. Soucek, *Preparation and characterization of monodisperse cerium oxide nanoparticles in hydrocarbon solvents.* Chemistry of Materials, 2007. **19**(5): p. 1103-1110.
- 96. Tao, Y., et al., *Microwave-assisted preparation of cerium dioxide nanocubes*. Materials Chemistry and Physics, 2008. **112**(3): p. 973-976.
- 97. Shoyama, M. and N. Hashimoto, *Effect of poly ethylene glycol addition on the microstructure and sensor characteristics of SnO 2 thin films prepared by sol-gel method.* Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2003. **93**(1): p. 585-589.
- 98. Inoue, I.H., et al., Nonpolar resistance switching of metal/binary-transition-metal oxides/metal sandwiches: Homogeneous/inhomogeneous transition of current distribution. Physical Review B, 2008. **77**(3): p. 035105.
- Yu, L.-E., et al., Structure Effects on Resistive Switching of \$\hbox {Al/TiO} \_ {x}/\hbox {Al} \$ Devices for RRAM Applications. IEEE Electron Device Letters, 2008. 29(4): p. 331-333.
- 100. Zimmer, M., et al., *Gold and platinum as ozone sensitive layer in work-function gas sensors.* Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2001. **80**(3): p. 174-178.
- 101. Xue, J. and S.R. Forrest, *Carrier transport in multilayer organic photodetectors: II. Effects of anode preparation.* Journal of applied physics, 2004. **95**(4): p. 1869-1877.
- 102. Manaka, T., et al., *Control of the nano electrostatic phenomena at a pentacene/metal interface for improvement of the organic FET devices.* Thin Solid Films, 2006. **499**(1): p. 386-391.
- 103. Guo, D., et al., *Effect of UV/ozone treatment of the dielectric layer on the device performance of pentacene thin film transistors.* Chemical physics letters, 2006. **429**(1): p. 124-128.
- 104. Koo, J.B., et al., *Effect of UV/ozone treatment on hysteresis of pentacene thin-film transistor with polymer gate dielectric.* Solid-State Electronics, 2009. **53**(6): p. 621-625.
- 105. *Cerium nitrate*. 2018; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cerium\_nitrate.
- 106. Personick, M.L., et al., *Shape Control of Gold Nanoparticles by Silver Underpotential Deposition.* Nano Letters, 2011. **11**(8): p. 3394-3398.
- 107. Cui, S., Z. Wen, and E.C. Mattson, *Indium-doped* SnO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticle–graphene nanohybrids: simple one-pot synthesis and their selective detection of NO<sub>2</sub>. Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2013. **1**(13): p. 4462.
- 108. Benouis, C.E., M. Benhaliliba, and A. Sanchez Juarez, *The effect of indium doping on structural, electrical conductivity, photoconductivity and density of states properties of ZnO films.* Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 2010. **490**(1-2): p. 62-67.
- Chen, K.j., F.Y. Hung, and S.J. Chang, *Microstructures, optical and electrical properties of In-doped ZnO thin films prepared by sol-gel method*. Applied Surface Science, 2009. 255(12): p. 6308-6312.
- 110. Kim, C.F., H. Soo Shin, and P. Moon, *Modeling of In2O3-10wt% ZnO thin film properties for transparent conductive oxide using neural networks*. Current Applied Physics, 2009. 9(6): p. 1407-1410.

- 111. Puntes, V.F., K.M. Krishnan, and P. Alivisatos, Synthesis, self-assembly, and magnetic behavior of a two-dimensional superlattice of single-crystal ε-Co nanoparticles. Applied Physics Letters, 2001. 78(15): p. 2187-2189.
- 112. Karapantsios, T.D. and M. Papara, *On the design of electrical conductance probes for foam drainage applications*. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 2008. **323**(1-3): p. 139-148.
- 113. Bethoux, J.-M., P. Vennéguès, and F. Natali, *Growth of high quality crack-free AlGaN films on GaN templates using plastic relaxation through buried cracks.* Journal of Applied Physics, 2003. **94**(10): p. 6499-6507.
- 114.
   Toluene.
   2018;
   Available
   from:

   https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/toluene section=Odor.
   from:
   from:
   from:
- 115. *Hexane*. Available from: <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/8058</u>.
- 116. Chang, J.F., H.H. Kuo, and I.C. IEU, *The effects of thickness and operation temperature on ZnO:Al thin film CO gas sensor.* Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2002. **84**(2-3): p. 258-264.
- 117. Xu, L., Q. Jiang, and Z. Xiao, *Plasma-Engraved Co*<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> *Nanosheets with Oxygen Vacancies and High Surface Area for the Oxygen Evolution Reaction.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2016. **55**(17): p. 5277-5281.
- 118. Sawa, A., et al., Interface resistance switching at a few nanometer thick perovskite manganite active layers. Applied Physics Letters, 2006. **88**(23).
- 119. Balakrishnan, K., et al., *Effect of Side-Chain Substituents on Self-Assembly of Perylene Diimide Molecules: Morphology Control.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2006. **128**(22): p. 7390-7398.
- Nian, Y.B., et al., Evidence for an Oxygen Diffusion Model for the Electric Pulse Induced Resistance Change Effect in Transition-Metal Oxides. Physical Review Letters, 2007. 98(14).
- Umezawa, O. and K. Nagai, Fatigue, Cyclic Deformation and Microstructure. Subsurface Crack Generation in High-cycle Fatigue for High Strength Alloys. ISIJ International, 1997.
   37(12): p. 1170-1179.
- 122. Holmberg, K., et al., A model for stresses, crack generation and fracture toughness calculation in scratched TiN-coated steel surfaces. Wear, 2003. **254**(3-4): p. 278-291.
- 123. Marshall, D.B., B.R. Lawn, and P. Chantikul, *Residual stress effects in sharp contact cracking.* Journal of Materials Science, 1979. **14**(9): p. 2225-2235.
- 124. Dalguer, L.A., K. Irikura, and J.D. Riera, *Simulation of tensile crack generation by threedimensional dynamic shear rupture propagation during an earthquake.* Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 2003. **103**(B3).
- 125. Shaw, S., et al., Building Materials from Colloidal Nanocrystal Arrays: Preventin Crack Formation during Ligand Removal by Controlling Structure and Solvation. Advanced Materials, 2016. **28**(40): p. 8892-8899.
- 126. Shaw, S., et al., Building Materials from Colloidal Nanocrystal Arrays: Evolution of Structure, Composition, and Mechanical Properties upon the Removal of Ligands by O2Plasma. Advanced Materials, 2016. **28**(40): p. 8900-8905.
- 127. Nguyen, D.A., Y.R. Lee, and A.V. Raghu, *Morphological and physical properties of a thermoplastic polyurethane reinforced with functionalized graphene sheet*. Polymer International, 2009. **58**(4): p. 412-417.
- 128. *Thermoplastic polyurethane*. 2018; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thermoplastic\_polyurethane.
- 129. Piccinin, S., A. Selloni, and S. Scandolo, *Electronic properties of metal-molecule-metal systems at zero bias: A periodic density functional study.* The Journal of Chemical Physics, 2003. **119**(13): p. 6729-6735.